RECEIVED

NOV 07 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No 2013-000638

The State of South Carolina,

v.

Respondent,

George White,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP

Rachel Atkin Hedley

SC Bar No. 16941

1320 Main Street / 17th Floor

Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

(803) 799-2000

Chief Appellate Defender

Robert M. Dudek

1330 Lady Street, Suite 401

Columbia, South Carolina 29201

(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in allowing evidence, over defense objection, of a videotaped forensic interview with the minor pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 when the videotape did not satisfy statutory requirements for admissibility?
2. Did the trial court err in allowing evidence, over defense objection, of a videotaped forensic interview with the minor pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 when the statute is unconstitutional as applied in this case?
3. Did the trial court err in qualifying the forensic interviewer as an expert and allowing the prosecution to elicit her opinion about the minor's credibility where such testimony invaded the jury's exclusive role of determining credibility, exceeded the time and place limitation on such testimony, and constituted impermissible bolstering?
4. Did the trial court err in qualifying the forensic interviewer as an expert and allowing the prosecution to elicit her opinion that Appellant's conduct could be considered "grooming" where such testimony was beyond the scope of her expertise and was offered as improper character evidence?
5. Did the trial court err by denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict based on the State's failure to introduce sufficient evidence to establish proof of the elements of the crime charged where the prosecution failed to introduce evidence of a sexual battery by sexual intercourse, as charged in the indictment, and as required to sustain a conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant George C. White was convicted on March 21, 2013 of the crimes of committing a lewd act upon a minor, in violation of S C. Code Ann. § 16-15-140, and criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(B). The indictments, issued on August 4, 2008, charged that Appellant committed the alleged unlawful acts between the dates of August 2007 and January 21, 2008, and that the alleged victim was a minor under the age of fourteen at the time of the conduct charged.

Case number 2008-GS-10-6275 (charge of criminal sexual conduct) and case number 2008-GS-10-6277 (charge of lewd act upon a minor) were tried before a jury in the Court of General Sessions, Charleston County, from March 18, 2013 until March 21, 2013, with the Honorable Thomas L. Hughston, Jr , Circuit Court Judge, presiding. In addition, the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson presided over pre-trial motions and jury selection, conducted on March 18, 2013. Assistant Solicitor Elizabeth Gordon prosecuted the charges on behalf of the State of South Carolina. The defendant was represented by Donald Howe.

The State called eighteen witnesses, including the minor who made the allegations, her neighbor, aunt and grandmother, City of Charleston police officers, a crime lab technician, a forensic DNA analyst, a pediatric nurse practitioner employed by the Medical University of South Carolina, the Appellant's wife, and a forensic interviewer. The Appellant testified in his defense, and denied the charges.

The undisputed evidence showed that the minor and her family knew Appellant. At the time of the events in question, the minor lived in a house with her father, aunt and grandmother. Appellant was sent to the family home by their landlord to perform certain

repairs, discovered that his wife knew the minor's grandmother and, over time, developed a relationship with the family. The minor's family gave Appellant permission to assist the minor with homework and to take her to church and on other outings. On the night of January 21, 2008, Appellant was at the minor's home, when a neighbor, Kristine Kulpepper, came to the home to pick up her son from a play-date. An emotional scene involving Ms. Kulpepper ensued, and the minor's family agreed to question the minor about her relationship with Appellant. The minor initially denied to her aunt and grandmother that Appellant had assaulted her but subsequently that night disclosed an alleged sexual assault to her aunt, grandmother and Ms. Kulpepper. The City of Charleston police were called, and the minor was taken to the Lowcountry Children's Center the following day for an evaluation. At the Lowcountry Children's Center, the minor was physically examined by a Medical University of South Carolina pediatric nurse practitioner. After the physical examination, a social worker conducted a forensic interview, during which the minor repeated the allegations of sexual abuse. The interview was recorded on videotape and offered as evidence in the case pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175.

After deliberating for less than thirty minutes, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on each of the charges contained in the indictments, and, at Appellant's request, the jury was polled as to its verdict. Appellant was sentenced to a ten year term of imprisonment for the lewd act charge and a twelve year term of imprisonment for the criminal sexual conduct charge, sentences to run concurrently.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ALLOWING EVIDENCE, OVER DEFENSE OBJECTION, OF A VIDEOTAPED FORENSIC INTERVIEW WITH THE MINOR, PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-23-175, WHEN THE VIDEOTAPE DID NOT SATISFY STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS FOR ADMISSIBILITY.

A. Relevant Facts.

On January 22, 2008, the day after disclosing the alleged sexual assault, the minor was taken to the Lowcountry Children's Center where Ms. Tracy Halasz, a pediatric nurse practitioner employed by M.U.S.C., performed a physical examination. (Transcript, p. 223:2-6; ROA 170.) That same day, Ms. Molly Wharton Dadin, a licensed social worker, conducted a forensic interview of the minor at the Lowcountry Children's Center, at the request of the City of Charleston Police Department. (Transcript, p. 346:3-8; ROA 260.)

At trial, the State offered to introduce the videotaped forensic interview pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 as well as the testimony of the interviewer, Ms. Dadin. Appellant objected to the admissibility of the videotape as unreliable. (Transcript, p. 13; ROA 10)

On March 19, 2013, Judge Hughston prepared to conduct a hearing outside the presence of the jury to determine whether the videotape was admissible. However, when attempting to play the videotape for the court, the State was unable to make the audio portion of the recording function properly. A transcript of the videotape was obtained after court recessed for the day, and it was presented to the court on the morning of March 20, 2013, when the court reconvened the in-camera hearing to determine the admissibility of the videotape. (Transcript, pp. 304-305, 306.1-310 13; ROA 218-219, 220-224.) At that point,

defense counsel notified the court that he objected to introduction of the transcript that had been prepared, in addition to his previous objection to the videotape as unreliable. (Transcript, p. 306.18-23; ROA 220.)

After playing the videotape again for the trial court, the State called Ms. Dadin to testify outside the presence of the jury for purposes of determining the admissibility of the interview tape. (Transcript, pp 313-330; ROA 227-244) Defense counsel objected that the tape was inadmissible because it did not comply with the statute due to the technical audio malfunction and because it was unreliable under the totality of the circumstances. Defense counsel also objected that introduction of the videotaped interview through Ms. Dadin was impermissible bolstering and violated Appellant's constitutional due process rights (Transcript, pp. 330-341; ROA 254-255.)

During the videotaped interview, the minor stated that "there's these two houses that [Appellant's] working at, and he would take me in there and take me in the bathroom and he'd take off my clothes and take off his clothes and start pushing me back and forth." She also stated that "he did it once in his van," in the parking lot of a hotel after he took her to church on a Sunday (State's Ex. No. 17 at 9.30, 15.35-16.00 Exhibit on file with the Court, Court's Ex. 3, p. 10; ROA 423.) Ms. Dadin then stated that she would show the minor some drawings and asked her questions about the body parts she saw and whether any of them were touching. The minor pointed and identified something as "your private"; however, the drawings she was shown are not visible on the recording, and her response to question "what do you call that part" was inaudible, as reflected in the transcription that was prepared (State's Ex. No. 17 at 13:17-13:51 Exhibit on file with the Court; Court's Ex. 3, p. 13; ROA

426.) In response to other questions asked about whether, where and how Appellant allegedly touched her, the minor offered no further details. Instead, she stated that she didn't know; all she knew was that "it hurt." (State's Ex No 17 at 14.08-14:15 Exhibit on file with the court; Court's Ex. 3, p. 14, ROA 427.)

During the in-camera hearing, Ms. Dadin testified about the interviewing protocol she followed, which directed that a proper forensic interview should be conducted in a calm and neutral setting, and should avoid leading questions. (Transcript, p. 327:3-328:11; ROA 241-242.) Although Ms. Dadin denied knowledge of the emotional scene the night before the interview, she confirmed that she would never make a statement to a minor to the effect that "if there had been penetration, it would have hurt" during a forensic interview. (Transcript, pp. 327.25-328.11, 329:11-15; ROA 241, 242, 243)

Although Ms. Dadin had not been aware of Ms. Kulpepper's role in the child's disclosure, it was undisputed at trial that the minor's disclosure occurred after an emotionally charged scene precipitated by Ms Kulpepper, which occurred only two days before the forensic interview with Ms. Dadin. Prior to trial, defense counsel requested a ruling *in limine* to preclude Ms. Kulepper from offering her anticipated testimony that Appellant "fit the profile of a pedophile," which she had stated to the police. The court granted the request and instructed the State that Ms. Kulpepper could testify about what she had observed, but she could not testify that she had concerns about Appellant's behavior (Transcript, pp 49-51, ROA 16-18.) Ms. Kulpepper was then called as the State's first witness at trial. She testified that she had seen Appellant with the family on prior occasions and had a "gut feeling of discomfort about the man" and that she "started to observe some things which struck me as

inappropriate." (Transcript, p. 70; ROA 29) She testified that Appellant "appeared obsessed with [the child]" at her birthday party and brought what Ms. Kulpepper thought was an excessive number of birthday presents. (Transcript, pp. 70-71; ROA 29-30.) Then Ms. Kulpepper began to describe the events of the night of January 21, 2008 She testified that when she came to the minor's home to pick up her son from a play-date, she saw Appellant sitting on the floor of the living room, at the minor's side, and "got very angry when I saw him sitting there. I felt like I wanted to be physically aggressive with him, which is not like me. I felt very angry, literally I felt like I had steam coming out of my ears, just wanted him to get away from her. And I bit my tongue though. I left with my son. And then her aunt, [the minor's] aunt, followed me out, said they noticed that I had a funny look on my face and something appeared to be wrong. And I told her that I could not be quiet anymore, I didn't want to offend them because this was a friend of their family's, and that I didn't want to wrongly accuse anyone, but I felt like something was up, something was wrong, something was going on. I felt like he was grooming the family I felt like he was trying to get to - - ." (Transcript, pp. 72-73; ROA 31-32.) At that point, defense counsel objected, and the jury was sent out. The trial court sustained the defense's objection and reminded the State that Ms. Kulpepper could not testify about her opinions or beliefs. (Transcript, pp. 73-74; ROA 32-33.)

On cross-examination, Ms. Kulpepper admitted that she didn't like Appellant and that he "gave her the creeps." (Transcript, p. 77.19-21; ROA 36.) She also testified that, on the night in question, she had left the house but returned later, to find an emotional scene where everybody was upset and crying. (Transcript, pp. 78-80; ROA 37-39.) At that time, she

asked the minor "did he, [Appellant] put his wiener up inside you?" and told the minor that "there is a hole down there where babies come out and, if he had put his wiener up inside there, it would probably hurt." (Transcript, p. 82:14-20, 85:9-13; ROA 41, 44.) She testified that the minor said she wasn't sure if it hurt but later stated that it did. (Transcript, p. 85:14-18; ROA 44.) She also testified that she asked the minor if she saw any "white, gooey stuff coming out of his penis." (Transcript, p. 85:19-23, ROA 44) Finally, she testified that the minor was upset and crying profusely throughout the questioning. (Transcript, pp 86:18-87:1; ROA 45.)

Based on this emotionally charged scene and leading questions by Ms. Kulpepper, which occurred the day before the forensic interview was conducted by Ms. Dadin, defense counsel objected to introduction of evidence regarding the interview because it was tainted and could not satisfy statutorily required guarantees of trustworthiness and on constitutional grounds. Defense counsel also objected to introduction of the written transcript of the forensic interview. After hearing arguments of counsel, the trial court held that the tape, and Ms. Dadin's testimony, were admissible, overruling the defense's objections. (Transcript, p. 341; ROA 255.)

B. Discussion.

Pursuant to Section 17-23-175 of the South Carolina Code, an out-of-court statement of a child under the age of 12 is admissible in a Court of General Sessions proceeding if the following four requirements are satisfied:

- (1) the statement was given in response to questioning conducted during an investigative interview of the child;

- (2) an audio and visual recording of the statement is preserved on film, videotape, or other electronic means, except as provided in subsection (F);
- (3) the child testifies at the proceeding and is subject to cross-examination on the elements of the offense and the making of the out-of-court statement, and
- (4) the court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 (A)(1)-(4).

The statute further provides the following non-exhaustive list of factors the court may consider in determining whether a statement possesses particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

- (1) whether the statement was elicited by leading questions;
- (2) whether the interviewer has been trained in conducting investigative interviews of children,
- (3) whether the statement represents a detailed account of the alleged offense,
- (4) whether the statement has internal coherence; and
- (5) sworn testimony of any participant which may be determined as necessary by the court.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 (B)(1)-(5).

Prior to admitting the videotaped interview, the court held an in-camera hearing to determine whether the statutory requirements had been satisfied, including watching the videotape and hearing sworn testimony from the forensic examiner, Ms. Dadin. (Transcript, pp. 330-341, ROA 244-255.) The court abused its discretion when it concluded that the statutory requirements for admissibility were satisfied.

First, due to the improper functioning of the audio portion of the videotape, the jury was not able to hear the minor's statements. The trial court allowed each member of the jury

to hold a copy of the written transcription that had been prepared at the same time the jury was watching the videotape. There is no provision in the statute authorizing this procedure. Instead, the statute requires that both the audio and visual components be preserved. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175(A)(2). Having recognized that the minor's statements could not be heard and that the written transcription was not necessarily accurate, the trial court should have found the statutory requirements unmet and excluded the videotape.¹

Second, the trial court should have excluded all evidence of the statements made by the child during the forensic interview as hearsay because the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement did not provide particularized guarantees of trustworthiness, as required for the prior statement to be admissible under Section 17-23-175.

Overruling the defense's objection to introduction of the evidence, the trial court acknowledged that the statements were elicited in response to leading questions but concluded that the "leading questions were not enough to make in my opinion the statements made by the person, the child, untrustworthy." (Transcript, p. 339; ROA 253.) With regard to the requirement of a detailed account, the trial court stated, "I wouldn't call it a detailed account, but it's enough of an account, bear [sic] essentials of the account of what happened, and that it does conform with what she testified to in court." (Transcript, p. 339; ROA 253.) Finally, the trial court found the statement was internally coherent because the court could understand what the minor was saying. (Transcript, p 340; ROA 254.)

¹ The trial court suggested proceeding under 17-23-175(F), which provides for the possibility of introducing a prior statement that has not been preserved, but the State maintained that the interview had been preserved on videotape, consistent with the statute, and the trial court proceeded on this basis (Transcript, pp 309-310, ROA 223-224)

However, the forensic interviewer, Ms Dadin, acknowledged that she would never ask the type of leading questions Ms Kulpepper had asked the minor. (Transcript, pp. 327-328, ROA 241-242.) The only specific details the minor gave during the interview were that the Appellant sat her on his lap, without clothes on, and "pushed her back and forth" and, consistent with what Ms. Kulpepper told her, that "it hurt." (State's Ex No. 17, at 9:16-22, 14:8-14:15 Exhibit on file with the Court.) She denied knowledge of penetration, denied seeing Appellant's penis, denying seeing or feeling anything "wet," and denied that he touched her genitals with his hands (Transcript, pp. 381-382; ROA 295-296.) In addition, there was inconsistency between the few details she gave at the interview and the details she gave at trial. For example, during the interview, she testified that Appellant allegedly assaulted her in the back of his van one time only, in a hotel parking lot. (State's Ex. No. 17, at 9.28-9.32.) At trial, however, she testified that he did this to her in the van "any time [she] would go off with him." (Transcript, p 98:11-15, ROA 57.) In addition, the forensic interview occurred the day after the emotional scene when Ms Kulpepper told the minor that, if Appellant had engaged in sexual intercourse with her, it would have hurt. Ms. Dadin acknowledged that the emotional scene and pointed questions by Ms Kulpepper were exactly the type of situation that should be avoided in order to conduct a forensic interview properly (Transcript, pp. 320, 327-28, 378-79; ROA 234, 241-242, 292-293.) Accordingly, the circumstances surrounding the forensic interview lacked the required guarantees of trustworthiness, and evidence of the videotaped interview, including the videotape, the written transcription and the testimony of the forensic interviewer, should not have been admitted under the statute.

Appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to exclude evidence of the videotaped forensic interview, which was offered to bolster the minor's in-court testimony that a sexual assault had occurred and which provided details about the alleged misconduct that the minor did not testify about at trial. The only direct evidence of any alleged sexual misconduct by Appellant was the minor's testimony. Therefore, the credibility of her testimony was critical to the State's case, and Appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to exclude evidence of her prior statement. Accordingly, Appellant respectfully requests an order reversing the convictions on both charges and remanding the case for a new trial

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING EVIDENCE, OVER DEFENSE OBJECTION, OF A VIDEOTAPED FORENSIC INTERVIEW WITH THE MINOR, PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-23-175, WHEN THE STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE.

The statute is unconstitutional as applied to this case. As defense counsel objected at trial, introduction of the minor's prior statement, as recorded in the videotape of the forensic interview, violated Appellant's due process rights. (Transcript, pp. 340-341; ROA 254-255.)

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