STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OCT 31 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2013-000638

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

GEORGE WHITE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLET A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, S. C. 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

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

- (1) The necessary visual and audio recording equipment was unavailable;
- (2) The circumstances surrounding the making of the statement;
- (3) The relationship of the professional and the child; and

(4) If the statement possesses particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

After considering these factors and additional factors the court deems important, the court will make a determination as to whether the statement is admissible pursuant to the provisions of this section.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 (F).

The statute does state a marked preference for a visual and audio recording, but also provides the means to admit out-of-court statements by the victim in other mediums, most likely testimony. The statute clearly contemplates that evidence of the out-of-court statement might come from a source other than a visual and audio recording, and in the instant case, the replication of the audio recording by transcript does not violate the statute, given the provisions of paragraph (F). In the instant case, a reasonably accurate transcript was provided to enhance perceived deficiencies in volume. It was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to do so, given that paragraph (F) provides for admission of out-of-court statements in mediums other than a visual and audio recording.

Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) ("The appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court." (emphasis added)). In the instant case, the interview was preserved in an audio and visual recording. The transcript was a reliable reproduction of the interview and was

provided to the jury for use in conjunction with the video recording made available to the jury. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the transcript to be used or in admitting the video and audio recording.

Given the lack of inaccuracy in the transcript, any error would be harmless. The improper admission of evidence is reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Defects in evidence or procedure generally do not affect admissibility. See, e.g., State v. Odom, 382 S.C. 144, 676 S.E.2d 124 (2009) (citing State v. Huntley, 349 S.C. 1, 562 S.E.2d 472 (2002)). “Exclusion of evidence should be limited to violations of constitutional rights and not to statutory violations, at least where the defendant cannot demonstrate prejudice at trial resulting from the failure to follow statutory procedures.” Huntley, 349 S.C. at 6, 562 S.E.2d at 474.

The transcript was provided to aid the jury with any possible defects in sound quality. Note the trial court asked whether counsel objected to any particular part of the transcript as opposed to the use of the transcript. Counsel did not have any objections and noted “[t]here were a couple of terms that weren’t perfect, but I didn’t see anything that was damaging.” ROA. p. 257, lines 17-25. The trial court did not err in allowing the video recording and the transcript into evidence.

Guarantees of trustworthiness

White further complains that the trial court should not have admitted the recording of the interview because it did not possess sufficient guarantees of trustworthiness. White makes two arguments in this regard (1) Kulpepper’s questioning tainted the subsequent interview by Dadin, rendering Dadin’s professionally conducted interview inadmissible; and

(2) Victim's answers were inconsistent with the trial testimony.

The latter issue should not be reviewed. White's trial counsel conceded to the trial court that the threshold requirements of the statute were met. When asked by the trial court, White's trial counsel advised the trial court: "Narrowly, I agree it probably meets what the statute requires. I've got some constitutionality problems, but I will save that." ROA. p. 246, lines 9-16.

However, when asked for his arguments against admission at the conclusion of the State's in camera presentation, trial counsel argued that the video recording should not be admissible because of the suggestive questioning by Kulpepper, a family friend. Trial counsel also argued the statement did not have internal coherence because the nurse examiner asked Victim if anybody hurt her down there and she said no. ROA. p. 250, line 10 – p. 251, line 6. White never complained at trial that the interview was inconsistent with Victim's trial testimony.

An objection should be sufficiently specific to bring the exact error to the trial court's attention. State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). An issue conceded in trial court is not preserved for review State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000); see Lindsay v. Lindsay, 328 S.C. 329, 491 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a trial judge if offended party does not challenge that ruling; failure to challenge ruling is abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal; unchallenged ruling is law of the case and requires affirmance). The ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999).

In the instant case, White's appellate argument about the perceived inconsistency between Victim's trial testimony and her interview is not preserved for review because trial counsel conceded the statutory requirements were met, although he did make a totality of the circumstances argument based on Kulpepper's discussions with Victim. White's trial counsel also objected to utilizing the transcripts. However, White's trial counsel never argued that the Victim's interview lacked coherence because it was inconsistent with trial testimony.

Further, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining the recording met the threshold requirements for admission. A trial court abuses its power of discretion when it commits an error of law or when there has been a factual conclusion without any evidentiary support. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). In the instant case, the interview was conducted by Dadin, a skilled interviewer who completed roughly five hundred interviews, received basic and advanced training in Finding Words and RATAAC, and attended state and national conferences in forensic interviewing. Tr. pp. 345-346. Dadin limited the amount of direct questioning and the substance of the allegations was not elicited by direct questioning. State's Exhibit No. 17. Contrary to White's argument, Victim's statements had internal coherence – White is essentially arguing whether the interview is **externally** consistent with trial testimony. Further, the interview statement represents a detailed account of the sexual abuse. For instance, Victim testified and demonstrated how the conduct occurred. She recounted that she and White travelled across the new bridge in Charleston to arrive at the hotel parking lot when she was abused on one occasion in the van. She discussed the bedding in the back of the van. She explained about the house that White

was fixing and the wolf they used to see and feed. She testified, as she did at trial, about the abuse occurring at the renovated house, in the bathroom, on the toilet. State's Exhibit No. 17.

Additionally, Dadin tested and determined that Victim was not swayed by suggestiveness. Dadin testified in camera on this point, as follows.

Prosecution: What tools did you use to determine whether or not [Victim] was suggestible?

A: So I gave her the opportunity several times to correct me, and sort of in a benign way to see if she would. She did correct me. She did clarify information and she did resist suggestion. Also, if I didn't understand something, you see several times in the video she is sort of helping me understand in her own way. So it was my opinion at the time that she was not actually suggestible.

ROA. p. 243, line 22 – p. 244, line 6.

White complains that “during the interview, she testified that Appellant allegedly assaulted her in the back of his van one time only, in a hotel parking lot.” Br. of Appellant, p. 11. Victim actually said it occurred one time in a van, clarifying it was parked by a hotel across the bridge. (State's Exhibit No. 17, 9:30). However, during the interview, consistent with trial testimony, Victim explained the abuse happened every time White and Victim went off somewhere and she was not expected back at a particular time. (State's Exhibit No. 17, 10:40-10:55). What slight discrepancy might exist hardly defeats the admissibility of the interview. Further, White later complains the interview is bolstering, which is opposite to the remonstrations made on this issue that the statement was inconsistent with trial testimony. However, the interview is consistent with Victim's trial testimony and the trial court did not

abuse its discretion in this regard. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the forensic interview into evidence as it contained sufficient guarantees of trustworthiness.

II.

Section 17-23-175 does not violate due process and is not unconstitutional; and Appellant's argument is conclusory.

White argues that section 17-23-175 violates due process as applied to his case because the victim was under twelve years old at the time of the interview, but was sixteen years of age at the time of trial. The argument is conclusory save for the very generic proposition that “[a] denial of due process occurs when a defendant in a criminal trial is denied the fundamental fairness essential to the concept of justice.” State v. Hornsby, 326 S.C. 121, 129, 484 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1997) (cited in Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 458, 698 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2010)). While White complains Victim was no longer under twelve at the time of trial, White fails to explain why that is fundamentally unfair. It is not: the Victim was subject to cross-examination, as was Dadin, the interviewer. “Statutes are to be construed in favor of constitutionality, and this Court will presume a legislative act is constitutionally valid unless a clear showing to the contrary is made.” State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 629, 591 S.E.2d 600, 603 (2004).

The State is unclear on the theory underlying White's assertion that his due process rights were violated. “Procedural due process requires adequate notice of the proceeding, the opportunity to be heard in person, the opportunity to introduce evidence, the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, and the right to meaningful judicial review.” State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 558, 745 S.E.2d 137, 140 (Ct. App. 2013) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “It does not, however, require any particular form of procedure.” Id. White has been or is being provided all these components of procedural due process.

As noted by White, this Court has already determined section 17-23-175 does not violate the confrontation clause found in the Sixth Amendment as long as the minor is available and subject to cross-examination. State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 293, 715 S.E.2d 368, 375 (Ct. App. 2011).

On the other hand, “[t]he substantive due process guarantee requires a rational basis for legislation depriving a person of life, liberty, or property.” In re Ronnie A., 355 S.C. 407, 409, 585 S.E.2d 311 (2003). “When an act is challenged under the due process clause, this Court only requires the act to be reasonably designed to accomplish its purposes, unless some fundamental right or suspect class is implicated.” In re Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 140, 568 S.E.2d 338, 347 (2002). The statute does not implicate a fundamental right or suspect class. “Legislation that does not infringe on fundamental rights is subject only to a rational basis test.” Id.

As White notes, the statute makes admissible evidence not previously admissible. “Generally, a prior consistent statement is not admissible unless the witness is charged with recent fabrication or improper motive or influence.” State v. Russell, 383 S.C. 447, 450, 679 S.E.2d 542, 543-44 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE). “However, in this case, the legislature has made a specific allowance for these out-of-court statements by child victims provided certain elements are met.” Id. at 451, 679 S.E.2d at 544.

The general rule against admitting hearsay statements is based on the long-established belief that cross-examination is the best vehicle to discover the truth and statements from the witness stand are the most reliable. California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149 (1970). “Despite the importance of cross-examination, exceptions to the hearsay rule have long existed in

evidentiary law. Two principles – trustworthiness (or reliability) and necessity – serve as the underlying rationale for exceptions to the hearsay rule.” State v. Myatt, 697 P.2d 836, 841 (Kan. 1985).

White’s counsel noted the perceived trustworthiness of a forensic interview during pre-trial discussions about the mechanics of the statute:

Mr. Howe: The way I interpret it, Judge, in all honesty, is that the videotape comes in basically as an exception to the hearsay rule because of the indicia of reliability outlined in the statute. Does that make sense? That’s the way I see it –

ROA. p. 16, lines 1-5.

The Kansas Supreme Court concluded that a statute creating a hearsay exception for testimony from child victims did not violate the confrontation clause. Myatt. In so doing, the Kansas Supreme Court contemplated what it deemed the necessity for the exception and the policy reasons for the statutory hearsay exception:

Often the child victim’s out-of-court statements constitute the only proof of the crime of sexual abuse. Witnesses other than the victim and perpetrator are rare as people simply do not molest children in front of others. . . . Most often the offender is a relative or close acquaintance who has the opportunity to be alone with the child. . . . Depending on the type of sexual contact, corroborating physical evidence may be absent or inconclusive. . . . The child may be unable to testify at trial due to fading memory, retraction of earlier statements due to guilt or fear, tender age, or inability to appreciate the proceedings in which he or she is a participant. Therefore, these hearsay statements are usually necessary to the proceedings as the only probative evidence available.

Myatt, 697 P.2d at 841.

In the instant case, the forensic interview provides an environment that is less

intimidating than a courtroom setting and typically is conducted close in time to an initial disclosure of abuse. Providing a video recording of the interview provides a benefit to the defendant too, as the defendant can determine if the interview was conducted in a potentially suggestive manner and may formulate a defense to the charges based on observations of that interview.¹

A maximum age for when the trial occurs makes little sense. For one thing, it could encourage the defense to delay trial to avoid evidence being admitted at trial and gain a windfall, contrary to concepts of judicial economy. Further, as a trial is delayed and time passes, the preservation of a contemporaneous account of the crime increases, rather than decreases, the probative value of the statement provided under this statute. Certainly, White fails to show he was prejudiced by the video being admitted now that Victim is sixteen years of age as opposed to if she was still under twelve years of age.

White received due process and his conviction is constitutionally just. The conviction and sentence should be affirmed. Any error is harmless, because White's own testimony is far more prejudicial than any possible unfair prejudice from admitting the forensic interview despite the child victim reaching a pre-adult age. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990).

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